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To my mother, my sister and all the women who have taught me how to write life.



PART ONE




MOBY DICK


It is not down in any map; true places never are.

Truth hath no confines.

There are certain queer times and occasions in this strange mixed affair we call life when a man takes this whole universe for a vast practical joke, though the wit thereof he but dimly discerns, and more than suspects that the joke is at nobody’s expense but his own.

—Herman Melville, Moby-Dick (1851)



Day 0

PERHAPS DAY 0 doesn’t exist on the calendar, but in life, it does. My Day 0 was the day Chris died, though I’ve also considered it might have been the day I moved to the island. But in the end, death struck me as more decisive than a move.

When the phone rang, I knew it was him. I was taking a bubble bath that had two spoonfuls of olive oil and a big glass of whole milk in it—home remedies to stave off stretch marks on my enormous belly—while I ate Belgian chocolate ice cream, an homage to my ancestors. I didn’t make any attempt to step out of the bathtub and pick up the phone. I just hoped it wouldn’t wake up Olivia; it had been hard for me to get my six-year-old daughter to sleep, and my moment of relaxation and self-indulgence had finally come. Chris would understand.

The bath was over when I’d polished off the pint. I dried off; rubbed almond lotion on my chest, belly, and butt; and listened to the message he’d left on my voicemail:

Hey, honey. I just wrapped up. I wanted to make it home for dinner, but there was no way. My client insisted we have something here in New Haven, at one of the off-campus bars. I’m headed home now. I should be there around twelve. You don’t need to wait up for me. Kisses, my love.

I didn’t call back, I just sent a text:

I was in the bath gorging myself on ice cream when you called. Don’t call me tubby, I’m sensitive! Have a good trip home. The three of us are here waiting for you. ILY.

My cell phone rang again two hours later. It didn’t really ring; it vibrated and the screen blinked. I’d fallen asleep watching TV in bed. I wasn’t alarmed when I saw it was Chris. When he traveled at night, he sometimes called me on his hands-free to keep from dozing off. I loved that he relied on me to keep him awake. I wasn’t being a submissive wife; it’s just that I had an incredible capacity to close my eyes and fall asleep anytime and anywhere. So not only did those brief interruptions not bother me, I actually enjoyed them. They reminded me of when we were teenagers, and I’d take the cordless house phone into bed, and he would do the same, and we would spend the whole night talking, and in a way, we’d fall asleep together.

“Hey, honey, where are you?” I asked, still drowsy.

“Good evening,” a woman’s voice answered. Then I got scared. I looked at the cell phone screen again. Chris. There was a lot of noise from cars in the background. “Is this Alice Williams?”

“Uh . . . Yeah, that’s me.” Immediately my hands started to shake.

“Your husband has been in a traffic accident. We’re taking him to Saint Luke’s Hospital in New Bedford.”

“What do you mean, New Bedford?”

“Your husband is Christopher Williams, resident of 668 Hope Street, Providence?”

“Yes . . .”

“He ran off the road on Route 6, close to Marion.”

“Marion? Where’s that?”

“Marion, Massachusetts. Next to the Weweantic River,” the person added, as if that would help me orient myself.

“I’m sorry, but I don’t know what you’re talking about,” I said, stunned, fighting not to wake up. As long as I was asleep, all this would be nothing more than a nightmare.

“I repeat, ma’am. Your husband has been in a traffic accident twenty-two miles east of New Bedford. We’re taking him to the hospital . . .”

“No, there must be some mistake,” I cut her off, relieved, finally getting my thoughts in order. “That’s impossible. My husband is—was—at Yale.”

We lived in Providence, Rhode Island. Yale is in New Haven, a hundred or so miles to the west. New Bedford is to the east, the opposite direction. I didn’t know exactly how far then, but less than an hour by car.

“Ma’am, I’ve just looked through his documents,” she said patiently, understanding how difficult taking in such information can be. “He’s Christopher Williams.”

“Can I talk to him, please?” I asked in anguish.

“He’s unconscious. His condition is very serious, Mrs. Williams. It’s important for you to come as soon as possible. Saint Luke’s Hospital, New Bedford.”

When I hung up, I looked instinctively at the time on the digital clock on my nightstand. I watched it go from 12:01 to 12:02 on May 13, 2015. From the time I was a little girl, my favorite number had been thirteen. It was the number I always picked when I played a sport, the number displayed on my jersey. And since no one ever chose thirteen, all its luck was for me. But that was over now.

And that day, May 13, 2015, became Day 0 for me.



After driving for five minutes, which seemed like endless hours, a shiver coursed through me when I realized I’d left Olivia alone, as if I’d just gone out to the mailbox to pick up the paper.

I immediately called my parents in the car on the hands-free, hoping my father would pick up.

“What is it, honey?” It was my mother, alarmed by the late hour.

“Mom, Chris has been in a car accident. They’re taking him to the hospital.”

“Oh my God. Is it bad?”

“I don’t know. I’ll call you later. I just ran out and Olivia is alone at home. I don’t want her to wake up without anyone there. Please go over there right away.”

“Sure, honey, we’re on our way. Oh Lord, George, wake up, Chris has had an accident. Where was he, honey?”

I didn’t want to have to go on giving explanations.

“Close to Yale, where he was working.”



I hate hospitals. As soon as I went in, I got queasy, even more than usual given my distress. My legs were about to give out. I don’t know how I managed to drive there. A porous veil started clouding my vision. I suffer from asthenophobia, an irrational fear of fainting in public. It almost always strikes me in stressful situations, when I feel trapped, when I’m surrounded by strangers or when I’m the center of attention. Any combination of those factors can lead to tachycardia, chills, difficulty breathing, and a feeling of panic.

A nurse accompanied me to a waiting room next to the ICU.

“Stay here, please. The doctor will come out as soon as he can. They’re still operating on your husband.”

I saw a soda machine and realized I needed sugar and caffeine. I didn’t even have time to reach into my pocket to fish out the coins. I faded to white at more or less the same time that would later appear on Chris’s death certificate.



I woke up in an examination area in the emergency room. The doctor and the head nurse looked at me so gently, with such empathy, that I knew Chris was dead. Not long after they confirmed it, I wondered whether I would have to honor his wishes and call our baby daughter Ruby or whether I could choose whatever name I wanted. Tricks the mind plays to survive. Those little unimportant details you grab onto when life stops moving on solid ground.

They’d put an IV in my arm to give me saline and injected me with a tranquilizer. Vital anesthesia for facing the nightmare of death. Was it appropriate given my pregnancy? Probably better than taking the risk that I would give birth then and there, wracked with heartache.

“The circumstances of your husband’s death are still far from clear,” the doctor told me. “We think it was cranioencephalic trauma caused by the impact when the car crashed. But the police have informed us there were no skid marks on the asphalt, so it’s likely he fell asleep at the wheel or lost consciousness before going off the road or . . .” He stopped, thinking it inappropriate to continue speculating on the subject. “A coroner will perform an autopsy to clear things up and determine the exact cause.”

It was then that I realized he was insinuating that Chris might have committed suicide.

“How long does that take? When can they send the body to Providence?”

“There’s a special area in the hospital set up where you can stay and receive family and friends.” Seeing that I didn’t react, he added, “A psychologist will come now to assist you and your family. I’m very sorry, Mrs. Williams. If you want, we can help you get in touch with them . . .”

“No, I want to take my husband home as soon as possible, please,” I said, or thought. At that moment, I couldn’t really distinguish between the two. All I was certain of was that, yes, of course I would call our daughter Ruby.



The sun was coming up outside and the effects of the tranquilizer were wearing off. It was time to call my parents. I would break down, cry, tell them what had happened, and say that I couldn’t stop thinking that if only I’d picked up the phone when he called, he might still be alive. That I didn’t know what Chris was doing there, that he’d lied to me and I was so sad, that I felt like none of this was happening, that it was all a nightmare. That they’d asked me to identify his body, and when I saw it, I’d thought, No, it isn’t him. Because it couldn’t be him, because Chris never lied to me, and when he did—usually about something insignificant—I always knew it and he’d laugh like a naughty child, and I adored him for it. So the body I had identified in the morgue wasn’t Chris; it was a false Chris. It wasn’t my Chris. None of this was real. Right, Dad? Right, Mom? Tell me none of this is happening. I called my father’s cell phone. My mother picked up.

“Yeah, Mom, it’s very bad . . . I don’t know, on a road close to Yale. He was on his way home . . . Mom, I don’t know anything else. I’ll call you when I have some news . . . No, I don’t want you to come . . . No, not Dad either . . . I don’t want Olivia to suspect anything and then get scared . . . I’d rather you both stay there and take care of her . . . I’ll keep you informed . . .”

I didn’t know I could lie so easily, because it was something I’d almost never had to do. Why hadn’t I been able to tell the truth? I couldn’t even say that Chris was dead. It was as if I needed more time. For what? I had no idea. I only knew I needed two hours or so. At that moment, it was hard to foretell that the time I’d need wasn’t a matter of hours or weeks or months, but of years.



MAY 15, 2015


MY HUSBAND JUST died two days ago, and I didn’t even know him, I thought. The first time I had smiled at him wasn’t because he was handsome, funny, popular and smart, but because I felt like I’d known him my whole brief life. And from that first fleeting smile we shared in a hallway in high school, I felt like he was part of me, and I part of him. Who was my husband? And, since I had spent eighteen years in love with his smile and with the smile he evoked from me, who was I? Hi, my name is Alice Williams, I’m thirty-three years old, and I’m sitting in the hallway of the Monahan Drabble Sherman Funeral Home listening to Dire Straits on the PA.

A PA? Seriously? In a funeral home? Brothers in Arms by Dire Straits, the first CD Chris ever bought, at a yard sale, when he was a kid. His favorite. How did they know? “So Far Away” was playing. How appropriate, how macabre. How ridiculous. But who had told the funeral home? Suddenly I realized it had been me. Is there any particular music you’d like to have played during the viewing? You can personalize the selection, the kindly woman in charge of making our loss more bearable had said. I don’t remember how I’d answered, but it was obvious that if this was playing, it was because I had requested it. Though it could easily have been Tricia, Chris’s sister. I was having problems with my memory. And when I say problems, I mean I was forgetting everything except what I really wanted to forget: that I was a widow.

Everyone was there. My parents, my grandmother, my aunts and uncles, my cousins, Chris’s parents, his sister and other family members, acquaintances, the friends we had in common and the ones we kept to ourselves. My entire little universe, controlled and orderly, until now. My bubble. A bubble that exploded with that call in the middle of the night, waking me to a hostile world I didn’t recognize, didn’t want to live in. And so, in just two days, I had built a new temporary bubble, where I kept myself relatively alive, in a state similar to hibernation, being there without being there. Even when people were in front of me, I didn’t see or hear them. I didn’t want them to talk to me or touch me. I couldn’t comprehend why I took no comfort in their words of consolation and their gentle, sincere embraces.

I didn’t tell anyone about Chris, about how he hadn’t been where he was supposed to be. I was ashamed to.

Olivia came over when “Walk of Life” started playing. She was the only one with a key to get in and out of my emergency bubble. Her and Dire Straits.

“Mommy.”

“What, honey?”

“Where’s my present?”

“What present?”

“The one from Daddy that he always brings when he goes on a trip.”

“I don’t know, love.”

“Did you look to see if it was in the car?”

“No, babe, I didn’t look.”

“Do you think it was my fault that he died?”

“Why do you say that, sweetie?” Sweetie, babe, love, honey. I didn’t know what to call her to soften the blow.

“Maybe he was going to buy my present and he died. On the way.”

“No, Oli, I’m sure he had bought it and I’m sure it’s in the car. I’ll look tomorrow and I’ll get it for you.”

“If it’s not my fault, whose fault is it?”

“No one’s. It’s no one’s fault.”

“So it’s not a bad thing, then?”

I looked at her without understanding. “Daddy says if something bad happens, it’s always someone’s fault.”

After reassuring her that it also wasn’t any of her grandparents’ fault, or her great-grandparents’—one at a time, the living and the dead—or Tricia’s, or mine, or anyone she knew or didn’t know, she said to me:

“So if it wasn’t anyone’s fault, was it Daddy’s fault?”

“No, honey, it wasn’t Daddy’s fault either.”

“Why is Daddy’s box closed? I want to see him.”

The coffin was closed. It had been my decision in order to protect Olivia, to keep alive the image she had of her father.

“No, Oli, like this it’s better.”

“When I close my eyes, I see him. I see Daddy.”

“That’s good, so you remember him.”

“I see him dead in the car. Pieces of his face are gone. An eye and a bunch of teeth and other stuff. And he’s bleeding a lot. It makes me really scared to close my eyes, Mommy.”

I didn’t think my soul could break any further. Olivia was six and had never expressed obsessive thoughts, at least not such palpable ones, just little hang-ups, nothing important. I stroked her hair. That was something that calmed her down a lot. Her and me both. I liked to run my fingers through her fine blond hair, which was just like Chris’s. Along with her father’s hair, she had inherited his mouth and smile, and my green eyes, nose and freckled cheeks.

“When we get home, I’ll print you the photos from when the three of us were on the cruise to Alaska last summer, OK?”

“It won’t work, Mommy. I need to see him. In the box.”

I looked at her and thought: How smart my daughter is. Maybe she’s gifted. I should buy her a piano or give her a chess set. But today, so when she becomes the first female world champion of chess or she’s playing at Carnegie Hall, she’ll say in the interviews: “The day we buried my father, my mother bought me a piano—or a chess set. That was my salvation. I want to dedicate this concert—or this world championship match—to my late father and to my mother, for turning my pain into art and passion. My daughter had some hidden talent, and my purpose in life was to discover it. The thought cheered me up a bit.

“It’s not called a box; it’s called a coffin, honey.”

That was all I managed to say. Then I took her hand and, despite my original plan, led her into the room where Chris’s coffin was.

It was cold, very cold. But that was normal. That’s how you have to store meat.

The first person who realized we were going in there was my mother. She was talking and crying with my aunt Sally. Mom walked over and rapped her knuckles on the glass door that separated us. I couldn’t hear her, but I could see her lips moving: What are you doing? You shouldn’t be in there. I walked up to the door. I looked at my mother for two or three seconds. She looked back at me, waiting for me to say something, but I just pulled the curtain on the door shut to get a little privacy for Olivia and me.

I took a metal wastebasket—what do the dead need a wastebasket for?—turned it upside down and stood Olivia on top of it, so she could peep inside the coffin.

“Are you sure, Oli?”

“Yeah, Mom, come on . . .”

I opened the lid. Olivia smiled immediately. It was a smile so full of life that I thought she was going to resuscitate Chris, that he would rise up and say: It’s freezing in here, let’s go home.

The autopsy had determined that Chris hadn’t died from the impact of the crash, as the police and the forensic investigator had suspected. He’d suffered a brain aneurysm that made him pass out at the wheel, and that caused the accident. He had an arteriovenous malformation. A time bomb nestled in his brain that had suddenly burst. Painful and clinical as the explanation was, it relieved me to hear it, because it ruled out the possibility that Chris had committed suicide. The absence of skid marks on the asphalt had raised the suspicions of the police and the investigator the insurance company had hired. I wasn’t worried about the claim not paying out; I was worried because even though I’d told the police in no uncertain terms that Chris was a cheerful person who always overcame anything in his way, in my heart I doubted; for the first time in my life, I doubted him. When they confirmed the cause of death, I couldn’t help but show my incredulity because Chris had lead a very healthy lifestyle. The coroner told me it had nothing to do with that; it was a congenital disorder. In many cases, hereditary. No one in his family, which I knew very well, had died under similar circumstances or had anything like that. And then I doubted a second time.

“Daddy’s so handsome.”

“Yes. Very.”

“And he smells good. He smells like Daddy.”

Betty, Chris’s mother, had come to our house beforehand to take a suit, tie, shirt and his favorite shoes from the closet, as well as his usual aftershave and deodorant.

“It’s like he’s sleeping.”

Olivia stroked Chris’s pink cheek. The undertaker had gone a little too far with the makeup, perhaps to conceal some cut or bruise.

“He’s really cold. Why is it so cold in here, Mommy?”

“So the body doesn’t go bad.”

“Like hamburgers in the refrigerator?”

“Yeah, more or less.”

“Is someone going to eat Daddy?”

“No, honey, of course not . . .”

“I always loved you more than Daddy. If you died, I would have been much sadder. Much more . . .” she said, caressing her father the whole time.

“Come on, sweetie, let’s go now . . .”

I tried to close the coffin lid, but Olivia stopped me.

“Wait . . .”

Olivia shut her eyes to be sure the image of her father she had in her head had changed. After a few moments, she opened them again. She seemed relieved.

“OK, we can go now.”

A piano, I thought, I’m going to give her a piano. An enormous grand piano, the best in the world. It would rise up in the air and fly whenever she played it, transporting the three of us right out of there.



MAY 16–18


I KEPT MY phone on each night, as if a part of me were hoping he would call, that the ringtone associated with his number would start to play. “As Long as You Love Me” by the Backstreet Boys. Back in 1998, he was finishing his last year of high school, I was in tenth grade, we liked each other, we’d say hi to each other in the hallways and eye each other in the cafeteria while talking in our respective groups. He sent his friend Troy to tell my friend Suz that he liked me; I sent my friend Suz back to his friend Troy to say I was crazy about him. I went to see his tennis matches; he came to watch me play lacrosse; and one day, at a party at his friend Melvin’s house while his parents were away blowing their money at Foxwoods Resort Casino, we finally talked. After three hours and six beers for him and three for me, right when that song started to play, he finally dared to give me my first kiss while we danced, intoxicated in every sense of the word, and we were sentenced to adore that corny song for life.

The morning after the funeral, I woke up in Olivia’s tiny bed. I couldn’t remember when I’d gone in there.

“You were kicking me,” she said, more amused than irritated.

“It wasn’t me; it was the baby.”

Olivia laughed. So far it seemed like she was all right, no trauma or lingering damage.

An hour later, while I was cleaning up after breakfast, she came into the kitchen in her fluorescent pink down jacket.

“What are you doing with the feathers on? It’s really hot, Oli.”

“No, it’s really cold there.”

“Where’s there?”

“In the refrigerator . . . Can we go see Daddy in the refrigerator?”

OK, so maybe she wasn’t completely all right.



I was named Teacher of the Year at the Seekonk River School, where I taught art—the same elementary school I had attended as a girl. It was a family affair. The award was something I’d always hoped to achieve. It was an open process, democratic and clean. The children voted, and I have to confess that the month before the voting, we teachers were always a little more attentive and agreeable. We were struck with a healthy and barely concealed competitiveness, and that was welcome, because it was to the children’s benefit. But the rivalry wasn’t so much about winning as about not coming in last. Not that the final results of the voting were made public. No, they only announced the winner. But of course, the rest of the teachers all knew their places in the ranking. And naturally, who wanted to come in last? In my eight years there, I had always made it to the top three, but I’d never won, and that was the fault of the marvelous Mr. Buck, the science teacher, who was a cross between Indiana Jones and MacGyver. He organized elaborate scavenger hunts to help the kids learn while having fun investigating and discovering the small, unfathomable wonders of nature, facing great dangers all over the schoolyard, then turned all this into a documentary worthy of National Geographic. His motto was: Don’t look at life, try it! So receiving the honor should have made me feel pleased and proud. But no, I knew why they had given it to me. Even though the relevant voting had taken place, I was sure that no one realized that the teachers, with the reigning champion Mr. Buck at their head, had decided unanimously to award me the distinction.

And there it was, the longed-for honor, in my living room. A framed certificate shaped like a scroll with a red apple on top of a textbook, an unimpeachable symbol of the teacher’s art and an homage to Isaac Newton. Behind it, a blackboard with my photo with a big smile on my face. Mrs. Williams, Teacher of the Year. My own students had painted the frame with bright colors that emphasized my freckly nose, green eyes and long red hair. I didn’t hang it up, but my father did, on my mother’s express orders. I found it when I came back from the funeral reception at Chris’s parents’ house. I thought seriously about giving it back: going back to the school, entering the teachers’ lounge, and smashing it onto the table. Take your damned charity and shove it . . . But no, I didn’t.



The principal was startled to see me in the teachers’ lounge. Nick Preston liked to get there an hour before the rest of the staff to enjoy the peace and quiet of the school before the arrival of the hordes of adorable little devils—as he called them. And when I say adorable little devils, I don’t just mean the students, he would say, laughing.

“Hey, Alice. What are you doing here? You shouldn’t have come,” he said with an affected tone of worry, as though he wished to make clear how upset he was for me and how much he regretted all that had happened. “You didn’t get my email?”

He had written me to offer his condolences once more—in addition to attending the funeral, of course, and sending one floral wreath to the funeral home on behalf of Seekonk River School and another to my home on behalf of the Preston family—and told me to forget about my obligations at the school, that what was important was my recovery and gathering strength for the next semester. In other words, I didn’t need to come back. There was a little more than a month of classes left.

“Yeah, I got it, and thank you, Nick, but . . . I came here to drop Olivia off, and . . . I’d rather get started again.”

“Alice, don’t worry. Mr. Wolf has taken over your classes. You’re seven months pregnant. By law you have a right to take time off.”

“We agreed that if I felt well, I would hold out till the semester was over.”

“Sure, Alice, of course . . . But do you feel well? Do you really feel well?”

I fell silent and promised myself I wouldn’t cry. He wasn’t worried about me, but of daily having to face a woman who had lost her husband. A very pregnant widow was too morose an image for the jovial atmosphere of the school. Having me there, they couldn’t have a good time openly—he and the teachers—laughing between classes over coffee in the teachers’ lounge or during lunch in the cafeteria while they chatted about the various home teams’ scores. No, everyone would have to be worried about poor Alice. She’s just so fragile. The principal must have said something like that to Mr. Wolf when he asked him to take over my classes. I wanted to vent all this to him, but I didn’t dare. Maybe because I really was fragile and confrontation was just too hard for me then. Or maybe just because my mind was playing a nasty trick on me and I was getting paranoid. Why did I doubt Nick Preston’s intentions? Why didn’t I believe he was genuinely concerned for my well-being, when he’d always been so kind to me before?

With all that’s going on, Alice, do you really want to be here? I asked myself. The principal was right. At that moment, the elementary school wasn’t where I needed to be. But I also didn’t want to be at home where the walls came crashing down on me, especially when Olivia wasn’t there. So where then? I tried to think of a place, somewhere that would make me feel better, an activity that would help me, a friend I could talk to, cry to, even laugh with, but nothing and no one came to mind.



MAY 19–20


I DIDN’T KNOW where to put the bouquet of flowers. On the guardrail? I had forgotten to bring duct tape. The flowers wouldn’t last long on the ground. But what was I doing there? Honey, you have to go leave flowers at the scene of the accident, my mother had said. We’ll go together, she insisted. It was hard for me to convince her not to come, that it was an intimate act, something I wanted to do alone. I didn’t want to turn it into a circus or a pilgrimage site for the family. Luckily, Chris’s parents agreed with me. And besides, Mom, you see, Chris died in a place far from where he was supposed to be. He lied to me. I know it shouldn’t matter to me, because he’s dead and no one can do anything about that, but what was he doing there, on that road along the coast? Where was he going? No, not where was he going. Where was he coming from? Obviously, I didn’t say this to my mother. I contented myself with saying to her, Mom, I’m going alone; that’s all there is to it. I need you to stay with Olivia, because you certainly aren’t suggesting we should take Olivia to see the place where her father ran off the road. I left the house before she could say something like: It’s not the place where he ran off the road; it’s the place where his soul rose up to heaven. My mother is fervently religious. I’m not, though at that moment, I would have liked to be. Everything would have been much easier, I thought.

The guardrail was still broken, and there was some weary-looking police tape that had outlived its purpose. I tore it off with one hand, because it seemed disrespectful to me, as though they had treated Chris like a criminal. Was he one? The tape skittered off down the road, borne by the wind. I peeked over the shoulder of the road. A thirteen-foot fall. In front of me, the Weweantic River, flanked by lovely houses with their own private docks. A lovely spot to take photos, watch a sunset, meditate. Anything but die. I confirmed that there weren’t any skid marks, which implied he had lost consciousness before going off the road. At least it was a gentle death. I didn’t say that, the doctor did. Had he said gentle? No, he hadn’t said gentle. He said something else. I should start to take notes about things.

I didn’t leave the bouquet on the road or on the guardrail. Instead, I walked two hundred yards along the road and made my way down the embankment along the river’s edge. I left the bouquet where the car had overturned, right on the bank, where there were still leftover blotches of motor oil, broken glass, and a small crater from the violent impact.

I thought about praying but decided against it. Then I thought of swimming in the river. But I was afraid of the water’s siren song, that I would let the current take me and get lost at sea. I took a piss among the wild rushes, after looking around first. I felt ashamed and ridiculous. A woman, seven months pregnant, peeing in the place where her husband had suffered a fatal accident. Not a particularly charming image. But I had to go really badly. The pregnancy had made me somewhat incontinent. It was then that I noticed a tiny gas station, Sam’s Gas, on the other side of the road. Alice, there are security cameras there; do you want to end up on YouTube? Category: pregnant pissing redhead. While I was going, I repeated over and over in my head: security camera, security camera . . .



Being seven months pregnant has its benefits. It wasn’t something I liked to take advantage of, and I didn’t like to let people wait on me or give me preferential treatment. As a pregnant woman, I felt strong, powerful. At least until Day 0. But now it was going to work in my favor, because it’s very easy to empathize with a pregnant woman, especially if her husband died in a traffic accident right in front of your gas station. And if the woman starts to cry unconsolably, forget about it. It was the first time I had cried openly in public. And it was for self-interest, to satisfy a clear objective: getting hold of the security camera footage from the night of the accident. Why? I still didn’t know. But I wanted it. Maybe because I had listened to the message Chris had left on my voicemail a thousand times, looking for something in the tone of his voice, an air of hesitancy, of guilt, or at least some background noise. A clue. Whatever it might be. We had spent most of our lives together. I could decipher his most casual remarks as well as his silences. And because I found nothing suspicious, everything was suspicious. Our relationship had seemed like the autumn sun, sweet and peaceful. Now I asked myself if that had made it unexciting, uninteresting. Did Chris need more? Did I need more, without realizing it? But right now I was looking for Chris’s more.

“The police took the footage to investigate the accident,” the owner of the gas station told me.

OK, better, just let it go. Good try. Get back home now.

“And you don’t have a copy?” I asked.

“Maybe,” he said, becoming intrigued. “But tell me something, miss. What do you want the footage for?”

I couldn’t come up with anything that might sound remotely convincing. I was going to throw in the towel and hope that no one would post the video of me peeing on YouTube. But then Ruby spoke for me: she gave me a powerful kick. Or was it a succession of them? I doubled over for a few seconds, and then realized it might seem as if I were going into labor. Maybe I prolonged this gesture longer than necessary and uttered a few (rather overacted) muffled cries because . . . that would likely unnerve the calm gas station owner on this little-used secondary road. Get her out of here, the sooner the better.

Five minutes later, I was on my way back home with a CD containing a video file with the camera footage. Thanks, Ruby.



The SUV was utterly destroyed. It had been a lark of Chris’s. A Cadillac Escalade, top of the line, with all the extras imaginable, so ridiculously large that I used to joke with him that if we got in a fight, he could always go live in it. Ironically, he had died in it.

I identified with the state of the SUV; maybe that’s why, when the mechanic at the garage they had towed it to told me it needed to be hauled to the junkyard, I looked at him very sternly and said, “No.”

I examined the Escalade from top to bottom. I opened the glove compartment and found the registration and insurance papers, all in order. A few chocolate wrappers (mine). Nothing else, not even a measly ticket. Chris was a very responsible driver.

The GPS screen was shattered, but it still functioned. I turned it on and looked to see if it had any preprogrammed routes. Nothing. He never used it because he boasted he had a singular sense of direction and needed no help finding his way. Are you sure you weren’t lost, Chris?

Last of all, I opened the trunk. There was his black leather laptop bag, the one I gave him, and a stuffed bear. A Big Smelly Bear. With a pink ribbon and a pompom around its spongy waist. The bear that Olivia had spent weeks begging for. Where had he bought it? Why wasn’t it in a toy store bag? Why wasn’t the receipt anywhere to be found? I took the bear and sniffed it instinctively. It didn’t smell like anything. So, why’s he called the Big Smelly Bear, then? I asked myself.



When I gave it to Olivia, her face lit up. She hugged it and kissed it as if it were her best friend in the world. “Is it from Daddy?”

“Of course, honey. See? He didn’t forget your present.”

“But is it from this trip, or the one before?”

“What’s this trip, Oli? What do you mean?” I asked as softly as possible.

“Grandma said Daddy’s still going somewhere.”

Brilliant, Mom. Thanks. What do I say now?

“One question, Oli: Why’s he called the Big Smelly Bear?”

She squeezed the creature’s behind. A farting sound came out.

“Dirty pig!” Olivia said, cracking up laughing. “You’re supposed to fart in the bathtub!”

I knew I wouldn’t find anything else of interest in his bag. Chris and I didn’t have secrets. I knew the passwords to his Facebook, his email, his cell phone. Well, it’s not that I knew them per se, but Chris was a bit of a wreck as far as remembering those things, so he had them all written down on a Post-it stuck to the computer monitor on his desk. In plain sight. But it had never occurred to me to go in there and snoop around. I trusted him. And he trusted me.

When I used them after his death, it was impossible not to feel like I was betraying our trust. I looked through his email, his Facebook, his LinkedIn, his Twitter, his Instagram, his (our) bank accounts, credit card statements, drawers, cabinets. I didn’t discover anything I didn’t already know, except that he was following Taylor Swift on Instagram. Along with 103 million other followers.

I compared his cell phone contacts with mine, to make sure they coincided, that he didn’t have some compromising number camouflaged under a colleague or family member’s name. Nothing. And I called the rest of the contacts that didn’t coincide with mine from a prepaid mobile I bought. I listened to their voices, and if they seemed to match their profile in his contacts, I hung up. I didn’t find anything suspicious there either.

Our life had been a puzzle we made together, piece by piece. We knew we loved each other. We had an image of our perfect life and the pieces we needed to put it together. We lived in a New England colonial house on Hope Street. Sufficiently close and sufficiently far from the homes of his parents and mine, equidistant from both, so there was no bias and everyone got along fine. We were faithful to the city of our birth; the city where we grew up, where we fell in love (the high school was just minutes from our house, a coincidence that pleased us both), where we separated to study our respective majors at our respective universities (Chris chose business administration at the University of Virginia, and I studied art at Brown, the prestigious Ivy League university just a few minutes from our house); the city that took us back in when Chris returned, with a love more solid and mature, resistant to the seductions of university and the dangers distance brought with it; the city that paid us back with a daughter, Olivia. Ruby was the final piece. We always wanted to have two, a little pair. We both loved her already, despite our arguments over her name. We both sought her out and made her with great pleasure. Those were the pieces to our puzzle. And it was finished. The landscape of our life defined, precious and ideal, ready to be put in a frame and hung up on the wall to admire. But now it was as if I had just opened the box to a five-thousand-piece puzzle and didn’t know what the final image would be.



The roadway was abandoned. A few scarce cars passed before the Cadillac veered off, tumbling down the embankment and disappearing from the frame. It was traveling at a moderate speed. I hit Pause on the player. The recording said 23:15. I hit Play again. I sped the image up. A car with two passengers pulled over to help. The driver peeked over the embankment and then brought his hands up to his head. In the meantime, the other person seemed to be calling 911. The ambulance took twelve minutes to arrive. Not long afterward, a Plymouth County police car and a fire truck from Marion, the next town over, pulled up. The paramedics couldn’t get Chris out of the SUV. After the firemen intervened, cutting the driver’s side door with a circular saw, they finally managed to load him onto a stretcher. He wasn’t moving. After they put him in the ambulance, the police and the firemen stayed behind at the scene of the accident. Why are you watching this, Alice? I asked myself as I cried in silence.



MAY 21–22


I DREW AN X over the scene of the accident on a map. US Route 6, beside the Weweantic River. I drew another X over our house in Providence. And with another X, I marked where he was supposed to have been, at Yale in New Haven. As if it were necessary to corroborate the lie visually.

Hey, honey. I just wrapped up. I wanted to make it home for dinner, but there was no way. My client insisted we have something here in New Haven, at one of the off-campus bars. I’m headed home now. I should be there around twelve. You don’t need to wait up for me. Kisses, my love.

I had listened to the message dozens of times. He didn’t say the name of the client, didn’t say the name of the bar . . . There was no recognizable noise. If anything, there was too much silence. Strange. Off-campus in New Haven. Kisses, my love. He almost never called me my love, because he said it was too important a word to wear out, to turn into a routine crutch. That’s why it had made me happy to hear it in that message. But now when I heard it, I kept thinking of those fake cakes placed in the windows of bakeries to attract your attention. A truth that turned into a lie when you touched it. That’s what I was trying to do, touch Chris’s truth to uncover his lie.

If he hadn’t had the accident, he would have arrived home right at the time he’d said. At twelve. Wherever he called me from, he’d made sure to be the same distance from Providence as Yale: a hundred miles away. I turned back to the map. The scene of the accident was 40 miles away. So he’d been driving for 60 miles or so. Taking that distance for a reference, I traced a line from the Weweantic River away from our home to the east, to figure out what the farthest point he could have driven from would be. Seeing the results of my calculations, my emergency bubble cracked like the windshield of a speeding car struck by a stone, and before I could patch it up, it shattered and soaked my entire body in a cold sweat. One hundred miles to the east. That encompassed practically every corner of eastern Massachusetts, including Boston, as well as virtually all of Cape Cod.

On the refrigerator, among the magnets and Olivia’s drawings, was a sheet of paper that read: Daddy’s Trips. Back in high school Chris had been on his way to being a tennis star. He won the Rhode Island State Championship in his junior and senior years, and that earned him a full scholarship to the University of Virginia, which had one of the best tennis teams in the country. His career there was brilliant: he made it to second place in the US Open Junior Tennis Championships, where he lost to Andy Roddick. Although he graduated with honors from the business administration program, he still wanted to be a professional tennis player. In just one year he made it to the 143rd slot in the ATP world rankings. When he tore his Achilles tendon, his newly minted career was cut short. But he didn’t let it get him down. Nowadays in professional tennis (and in almost anything in life), what you haven’t achieved by age twenty-five, you won’t ever achieve. So, if by the time I’m twenty-seven, to give myself a few years of wiggle room, I haven’t gotten my face on a cereal box, then I’m giving it up, he said, half as a joke and half seriously. When the day came, I made him a special edition of his favorite cereal, Fruity Pebbles, with his photo on the box, smiling with a headband on and holding his racquet. It wasn’t a way to remind him of his failure, but to make him see that there are lots of ways to get onto a cereal box, that even if it wasn’t the way he’d dreamt of, that didn’t necessarily mean it would be worse, just different. And he seemed to take it that way, because he got very excited over it, so much so that he placed it in his trophy case, next to his second place in the US Open Juniors, the high point of his career and his most treasured defeat, as he called it. That same day, in front of the entire family, he announced he was quitting tennis, without the least hint of rancor or frustration. Now I couldn’t help but wonder whether that decision to give up on professional tennis, which he seemed to take so naturally and so calmly, might not have plunged him into some kind of depression or grief that could have provoked a fatal wound to his self-esteem, to his dreams of grandeur—which he’d cultivated from a very young age. An emptiness impossible to share—because he couldn’t stand anyone feeling sorry for him—that might have fed into whatever it was he was doing behind my back.

Not long afterward, he started a business installing tennis courts, which allowed him to pursue a career while remaining close to his passion. He developed and patented an artificial surface, using recycled materials, that not only dried in record time, but also absorbed the impact of players’ footsteps, helping to prevent injuries of the kind he had suffered. He already controlled the better part of the tennis court market in Rhode Island and was starting to expand into Connecticut and Massachusetts. It was just the beginning, according to him. On his last trip, he was finally (supposedly) closing a contract with Yale University to renovate all the tennis courts on campus. If it turned out well, his business would take off. Most universities follow Yale’s lead. If Yale picks me, they’ll all pick me, he affirmed.

He tried to bunch his trips together so he could spend the minimum amount of time away. He was a real homebody, devoted to his routines, devoted to me. That was why all this had to have some kind of explanation.

Newport, Charlestown, Worcester, Manchester, Boylston, Hartford, East Greenwich, Block Island, and Yale. Those were the trips he had made so far that year. And once again, not a trace of hotel expenses, local restaurant bills paid for on the credit card, nothing at all. Hadn’t that surprised me before? Not really. His father always said you had to actually pay your bills, with cash, with greenbacks, not with plastic. Because if not, it feels like you’re not earning anything, and you spend more, naturally. You have to be conscious of what you spend because if not, someday, without realizing it, you’ll be left without anything, he used to say. Yeah, the Williamses were a little tight-fisted—though Chris thought of himself more like the thrifty ant in the fable. So even if it had drawn my attention, he would have reminded me of his father’s words and shown me the stack of bills he always kept in his pocket, in a silver clip he’d inherited from his grandfather, and I wouldn’t have had the least doubt he was telling the truth.

In my painting studio in the basement of the house—it had been in the attic until Olivia was born—there was a table in the center crowded with all my junk: paint jars (oil and acrylic), brushes, pencils, plastic picnic plates where I mixed my colors, rags, canvas, frames, sketches, a light table, lots of books, and my laptop, accented with paint drips and splatters from my brushes. A controlled chaos. I liked it that way. Though it wasn’t idyllic, being humid and lacking natural light, it was my corner, my world, where no one but me ever went. I liked how it filled up with life and experience. But now I didn’t hesitate to clear off the entire table. I needed space and privacy.

I opened a road atlas my father had given us years ago and tore out the pages for Connecticut, Rhode Island and Massachusetts, laying out the sheets to create an enormous, detailed map of the Northeast. Then I traced all of Chris’s business trips in different colors, following the most logical routes. None of these supposed trips would have taken him anywhere near US 6.



His side of the bed still smelled like him, revealing to me the abyss of his absence. A dark, endless precipice, a black hole of sorrow. And yet I refused to change the sheets. Before I went to bed—luckily, I hadn’t lost sleep, for the less I was aware, the better—I thought: I have the surveillance recording of Chris coming back. But naturally, if he passed through that spot on his return trip, he probably did the same on his way out, to wherever it was. Would that date coincide with the day he supposedly went to Yale? What was the owner of the gas station’s name? It doesn’t matter, Alice, his name’s on the gas station. Now get some sleep.

And I did sleep, but first I wrote everything down in a notebook. I had started to always keep one on me to prevent myself from forgetting the few lucid thoughts I had.

I don’t know at what point I got up, went to Olivia’s room, and got into the bed. I was sleeping; I’m sure of it. But I knew what I was doing and that it wasn’t a dream. It was a strange conscious somnambulism. It would have been lovely to stay in that state the whole day long.

“Mommy, why can you come to my bed when you want and I can’t go to yours?” Olivia asked drowsily, not expecting a response, curling up in the fetal position next to my belly, in the exact same position as Ruby, as though pretending she was inside me.



Sam, the owner of the gas station, was overwhelmed as he examined the long list I had just handed him with the dates of the security camera footage I wanted. The dates of Chris’s trips.

January 17–22 and 28–31. February 6–11 and 24–28. March 4–7 and 17–23. April 15–19 and April 28–May 3. And finally, May 9–13.

“Are you going to go into labor again if I ask you why you want this footage?”

“Probably,” I said, rubbing my belly.

“Just one question: Is all this about the person from the accident?”

I decided not to answer and just see what happened. It seemed to work.

“I have good news and bad news,” he said. “Which do you want first?”

“Are we really going to play this game?” I asked, but Sam just imitated my silence. “OK,” I said. “Give me the bad news first.”

“I’m going to give you the footage.”

“That’s the bad news?” I asked.

Sam grabbed a grimy calculator with plastic over the keys to keep them from getting dirtier than they already were.

“Ma’am, you’re asking me for forty-eight days’ worth of recordings.” He typed. “Forty-eight times twenty-four is 1,152 hours of recordings. That’s a little crazy, ain’t it? What are you looking for? I know, an SUV. You want to know if that Escalade passed by here other times. I read lots of mystery novels.” He went back to his calculator without waiting for me to respond. “So, if you watched the complete tapes, sped up to two times normal speed, still slow enough to see any cars that might pass by, for an average of eight hours a day, like a regular old job . . .” He typed again. “Divide 1,152 by two . . . that’s 576 hours . . . by eight . . . you’d need seventy-two days to see all of it,” he said triumphantly, as though he’d just beat me at poker.

“Then what’s the good news, Sam?” I asked, woozy at the cavalcade of numbers. The truth is I hadn’t thought about all that.

“Well, the majority of closed-circuit systems erase the images they’ve stored little by little. It’s not a legal thing. Here in this state, you can keep them for the rest of your life if you want. But it’s a practical matter, a question of economics. The recordings are stored for twenty-eight days. Why twenty-eight and not a whole month? I don’t know . . .” Sam looked back at the list I had given him. “So I can give you the recordings from April 15 through April 19 and the ones from April 28 through May 3 in addition to the one you’ve already got.” He looked up and smiled at me, now more mocking than triumphant. “That’s the good news. That you’ll just have to watch . . .”

He started computing again. I wanted to slam that greasy calculator right over his head. But I didn’t.



MAY 23–26


AT THE BEGINNING, every car that passed before my eyes made my heart shudder. That’s the one! I kept thinking. And I would stop and rewind, and it would turn out to be a little pistachio-colored Chevrolet Spark, for example. I was looking for a rather large black Cadillac Escalade. But soon enough my eyes became adapted to the darkness of the vital moment, and in the end, I could even pass through the images at 4X speed.

Of the six journeys, both back and forth, I managed to find the SUV in five—two trips out and three back, including the moment of the accident. They didn’t always coincide with the days Chris left or came home. So it occurred to me that on his trips, Chris would take care of his obligations, but that he could wrap them up in a day or two before running off to who knows where for who knows what reason. Following that highway, US 6, to come and go somewhere. Was it always the same place? Did it matter? He had already shown that he’d lied to me, and that lie apparently always led him to the same place. Fine. Enough. Your dead husband was doing something bad. Did it have to be bad, necessarily? He had his big little secret he didn’t want to share with you. Can’t you live with that, Alice? Is it really so impossible to bear? Didn’t he treat you well? Love you? Didn’t he show it? Didn’t he respect you? Want you? Make love to you? No, yes, yes, yes, yes, yes, yes, yes and yes.

Someone knocked at the door to my studio—it was locked from the inside, something I had never done before. It was my mother.

“Honey, what are you doing in there?”

“The same as you when you’re in the garden, Mom.”

“You have rosebushes in there?”

“No, I have my things, the things I like to do by myself, for myself, without anyone bothering me.”

“It doesn’t bother me if you look at me or keep me company while I care for my roses.”

“Well, it bothers me.”

“But you don’t even have rosebushes . . .”

Silence, I sucked in and held my breath.

“Oh, you mean whatever it is you’re doing in there. Well, you could have told me, dear; you know I’m very respectful . . .”

I continued holding my breath.

“So why don’t you plant some rosebushes? It would do you good to get some fresh air now and then instead of being shut up in there all day.”

After she left, I held my breath for another fifteen seconds.



I traveled along US 6 from the scene of the accident toward the beginning or endpoint, depending on how you looked at it. To trace out the route Chris had followed. I had reserved the red marker for him. What should I call that route? I had to give it a name. The route of death? The route of the secret? Of the lie? And why was he on a secondary road, instead of I-195, which would have taken him much less time?

I passed in front of the gas station. I was about to stop and say hi to Sam and give him a gift by way of thanks. Here, Sam, it’s a new calculator, so you can go on calculating your pointless life . . . Poor guy, don’t take it out on him, he even helped you out. But maybe that was the thing that bothered me. If he had told me no, he wasn’t going to give me the recordings, what would I have done? Would I have let it all go? Would I have given up my quest, unconsciously thankful to him for stopping me in time?

When I got to Wareham, I stopped at the main intersection. I’d already been driving a long time, hypnotized, going up US 6 slowly, like a zombie, afraid to look to either side, totally overwhelmed, ignoring all the houses that lined the road. The infinity of possibilities, of alleys, of turnoffs, of origins and of destinations. I was about to give up. Go home, Alice. Forget all this. Until a bird landed on the branch of a cherry tree at the same height as my red Jeep Cherokee. It was a cuckoo. It leaned its head to one side and looked at me. Chris always leaned his head to look at me when he noticed I was irritated and wouldn’t say what it was that had made me angry. It was a little gesture to say, Come on, A. You’re angry, you know that I know, don’t make me ask you why a thousand times, and don’t say a thousand times that you’re not, because in the end you’ll tell me, and by then we’ll both be angry after playing this goddamn game. And what would I do? The same thing I was doing just then. I would stay there quiet, avoiding any eye contact with him. Finally, Chris would get tired of waiting, get up and go. What if the spirit of Chris had taken up residence in that cuckoo. Aren’t those the birds that lay their eggs in others’ nests? Is that some kind of subliminal message? Is he trying to tell me something?

The cuckoo took flight just as this thought flitted through my head. It was Chris, no doubt about it. Where was he going? I followed him with my gaze. He left in the very direction I’d come from. Aha, you’re going home, coward. You want to lead me away from the scene of the crime. I went pale. The scene of the crime? I hadn’t thought about it. What if now . . .

A horn honked loudly behind me, startling me. When I said I had stopped at the intersection, I mean I was literally in the middle of the road blocking the flow of traffic. An impatient driver was making a fuss, as if to say, Woman driver! I moved forward a few feet and parked on the shoulder of the road. Pay attention to the cuckoo; go home . . . Left or right . . . ? He was warning you. Don’t go poking around in other people’s nests . . . Left or right? Where do I go . . . ? Backward, back home. You still have time to make it to your water aerobics class for pregnant women . . . Look, the guy who honked at you stopped in front of a bank . . . A bank, so what? What do I need with a bank right now? Alice, banks have security cameras. I’d had these kinds of internal dialogues all my life. They weren’t the result of some trauma. I’m an only child; I had no choice but to get along with myself.



It was called Pilgrims’ Bank and it was almost a toy. There were security cameras installed outside. And who was behind the counter? Yes, the man who had honked at me impatiently at the intersection. He had greasy hair slicked down on one side, probably covering up an incipient bald spot. He was fat and had a stain on his tie. It was either going to be very easy or very difficult to get him on my side. How far would you be willing to go to get what you want, Alice? Would you pay for it, for instance? Would you jerk him off in the bathroom?

“I beg your pardon.”

He looked at me without understanding.

He doesn’t recognize you, Alice. Don’t say anything. Change the subject. “I was blocking the intersection before.”

Great, Alice.

“Oh, don’t worry. No problem.” He smiled affably. “I apologize for honking. It’s just that right before then some coffee spilled on my tie. I’m a disaster with things like that, eating in the car, you know, and I always end up spilling something on myself. But I can’t help it. Anyway, so I made you pay for it, honking my horn like a jerk.” He extended his hand. “My name’s Karl. Yours?”

“Angela.”

“Nice name. How can I help you, Angela?”

Suddenly, the fat horn honker with the stain on his tie and an urge to get jerked off by a pregnant woman in the bathroom became Karl, an employee at a humble bank who liked his job and really wanted his clients to get the most out of their savings.

“Look, Karl, the thing is, I’m a little desperate. I need your help.”

“No problem, take out your pistol, I’ll give you what’s in the safe, it’s not much, things being what they are, and that’s that.” He raised his hands and laughed, a little high-pitched, considering his corpulent body.

I told him my brother had died not long ago in a traffic accident. They had done an autopsy on him, and he had tested positive for meth (I’m a big Breaking Bad fan). They found traces of the drug in his car. He had just gotten high. The meth had been cut with something bad, and he had a stroke, which made him run off the road. The police had closed the case because for them, my brother was just another drug addict who deserved what he had gotten, but I needed to know where it had come from. I was certain I’d just seen his dealer, and I needed to find the person responsible for my brother’s death. What I’d just told him was the plot from a dreadful TV movie I’d seen one afternoon a few months back, one of those you start watching and can’t take your eyes off of till the end, no matter how bad it is. It was called Avenging Angela. Who would have thought it would end up being useful?

There were tears in Karl’s eyes as I told the story; they started just after I said I was going to name my baby Derek, after my brother. And that was how I discovered prior footage of Chris heading east on US 6. I realize it probably wasn’t necessary to lie about all that. I guess I was training myself for all the lies to come. Chris’s and mine. Mainly mine.



MAY 27–31


THE NEXT DAY, I had a lawyer’s appointment and couldn’t go on mapping out Chris’s route and tracing it with the red marker.

My mother called at my studio door.

“Are you all right?”

“Yes, Mom, I’m fine. You don’t have to ask me if I’m all right every half hour.”

“Well, I put my ear up to the door, and I didn’t even hear you breathing . . . Remember you’ve got an appointment with the insurance lawyer today?”

“Yes, I remember.”

“Are you sure you don’t want me to go with you?”

“No, thanks . . .”

“Or Dad? You know they might try and scam you. I don’t trust lawyers.”

I opened the door, wedging my body so that my mother couldn’t peek inside.

“Don’t worry, Mom. It’s nothing . . . I’d rather go by myself. I’ll work it out.”

“OK, fine . . . But seriously, honey, why do you spend so much time shut up in there?”

“This is my painting studio, Mom. I’m a painter. I like to paint. It relaxes me. It makes me forget everything for a while.”

“It doesn’t smell like paint, honey,” she said to me without a trace of hostility. The opposite, in fact: she wanted me to know she was there for me. Suddenly, I realized I had turned my mother into a threat instead of a possible accomplice. I was about to break down and confess everything. Everything.

“I’m drawing, Mom. Pencils don’t have a scent.”

I closed the door. And locked it.



The lawyer looked like he’d come straight out of central casting and was seated in a typical lawyer’s office in a typical law firm.

“Your husband had a life insurance contract that covered accidental death. After looking over the autopsy report, which determined that he wasn’t under the influence of controlled substances or driving recklessly, and since the accident was the result of natural causes, the board has approved payment of the policy in full. Would you like to know how much it is?”

“A million and a half dollars . . .” I said inexpressively. We used to joke a lot about how well a fatal accident would work out.

When the lawyer began to advise me about various investments I could make to derive maximum benefit from the money, I stopped him gently. I didn’t want to speculate with the money. I didn’t want to use it. It was dirty money, and it wasn’t going to bring Chris back. But it might help you find him. It was a fleeting thought that passed rapidly through the corners of my mind, but I caught it and never let it go.



When I returned home, the piano had just arrived. No, I hadn’t forgotten about the gift for my presumptive child prodigy. I’d bought it that same day after returning from the funeral home. I’d shut myself up in the bathroom because I needed to cry alone. Then I opened the browser on my cell phone and typed into the search bar Piano stores buy online. I clicked the first link in the results. The grand pianos looked too ostentatious and pricey for me. A genius can make any piano sound good, I thought. So I bought an upright digital piano, a glossy white Roland (which sounded like a good brand). It cost $1,999 and took me less than four minutes to order.

Now that pretty piano, because it was very pretty, was in the living room against the wall where we had all the family photos.

“What’s that for?” Olivia asked, holding on to her Big Smelly Bear. She hadn’t let it go since I gave it to her.

“What do you mean, what’s it for? It’s a piano, Oli. For playing music.”

“Yeah, but why’s it here?”

“It’s here for you. It’s a present Daddy ordered for you.”

She looked under the lid and lifted the mat that covered the keys.

“Don’t you want to learn to play the piano?”

Olivia looked closer. I turned it on and she touched a key. A few times, but only that one key.

“You can touch more,” I said. “They all sound different.”

I played a complete scale. Do, re, mi, fa, sol, la, ti, do . . . Olivia watched me with obviously disdainful curiosity.

“This isn’t a gift from Daddy.”

“Yes, it is.”

“No, Daddy doesn’t give me presents like this.”

“What do you mean?”

“Daddy gives me better presents. Fun ones. If you had died, Daddy would have given me a pony to make me feel better, not a piano.”

At this point it was clear she wasn’t a genius, but she was certainly clever. She was about to leave the living room when I snatched the stuffed animal from her hands.

“Leave Big Smelly Bear alone! Give him to me! Mom!”

I used a voice at once reedy and garbled, as if I was the Big Smelly Bear.

“Olivia, if you don’t want the piano, I’ll take it. I love pianos.”

“Don’t use that voice. I don’t like it!”

I ignored her.

“And you know why I like pianos? Because then I can fart while I’m playing and nobody will hear it.”

I sat Big Smelly Bear in my lap and banged wildly on the piano’s keys with the animal’s front paws.

“You like it? It’s an original composition. It’s called ‘Poop Melody in Fart Minor.’ Dance for me, Olivia! Dance for me!”

Olivia had stopped trying to force the bear out of my hands and was laughing and dancing and turning around in a circle. Two weeks after Chris’s death, I had finally managed to make Olivia laugh. Not that she hadn’t laughed the entire time, but it had never been laughter I had provoked. Just for that, buying the piano had been worth it. Anyway, I had forty-five days to return it.



With the assistance of Karl, the banker with a heart and stains on his tie, I managed to figure out that Chris crossed the Wareham River on US 6. I traced his path until I made it to a minigolf course on Cranberry Highway called Sand & Surf, where I saw there was a security camera. A security camera on a minigolf course? The place was completely empty.

The manager, Charlie—I read it on his nametag—was walking indolently over the worn-out Astroturf surrounding the holes, a putter resting on his shoulder like a rifle. He had a shaved head with a scar down the center, ending right between his eyebrows.

The story of my brother lost to drugs moved him so deeply it made him cry, without tears, because according to him, when they opened up his head, in addition to losing 11 percent of his brain matter, his tear ducts dried up. He had to use drops throughout the day to keep his eyes from drying up. It turned out he’d split his head open when he was coked out of his gourd on a trip to Miami with a friend he met who was a gun nut like himself. “Nothing weird, no gay stuff, get it?” he added. He got the idea to do some balconing, which he explained to me, without my asking, was when you jumped from the balcony of your hotel into the pool. Clearly, he didn’t make it. Charlie had always wanted to be a marine, but they turned him down because he had a slight limp.

Afterward he applied for practically every branch of the US armed forces, then the state and county police, forest rangers, highway patrol . . . Zilch. So he’d ended up there, with a putter his lone weapon to fend off the local drunks and pranksters. They installed the security camera, he explained to me, when one father accused another of kicking the wooden beam at the boundary of the hole to make his son’s ball go in so that he would win the championship. In the subsequent fight, the accused father wound up stabbing the other man in the stomach with the flag marking the hole.

Charlie not only offered to give me the footage I needed, but also wanted to join me in my investigation. If I was going to delve into the underworld, I’d need protection, someone to cover my back, and he wasn’t afraid to take a bullet in the chest for me and “the little creature I was carrying inside me.”

I gently declined his offer and left with the recordings safely in my possession.

Not all the characters who helped me trace out what I silently referred to as “the route of the red marker” toward Chris’s point of departure or destination were so peculiar. Several refused to collaborate and didn’t feel moved in the least by my story or my personal circumstances. Others even threatened to turn me in for trying to bribe them. Some only had the security cameras for show and others erased footage daily. Occasionally, I was forced to make decisions blindly, assuming I was following Chris’s route, only to discover he hadn’t passed through there, and I’d retrace my footsteps and try another one. But luckily for me—or unfortunately—we lived in a society that was obsessed with defending its territory.

Eventually, I found that Chris had crossed Buzzards Bay, passing by the Bay Motor Inn—information courtesy of the manager, Hugo—until he reached a huge traffic circle close to Bourne Bridge, where a number of main roads meet. There was a gun shop there with an on-site shooting range.

It turned out that the owner of the place, a coarse-looking woman of about fifty, had all of her security footage from more than five years back. Her father, the former owner, was in a nursing home with senile dementia. She went to visit him every Monday morning—the only day the range closed—and took him the tapes for the week, because they were the only thing he liked to watch, the only thing that roused him from his slow and agonizing decline.

“So, tell me, Angela,” she eventually said, “how many pistols are you willing to buy to get me to give you what you want?”



Chris had taken the exit onto US 28 East and crossed Bourne Bridge, one of only two bridges leading onto or off of Cape Cod. Cape Cod? Chris didn’t like the cape one bit. At least, that’s what he said. I had spent a few summer vacations with my parents in Chatham when I was a little girl and then a teenager, and had lovely memories of it, but I’d never gone back since, in part because of Chris, because places with too many crowds made him nervous, especially during vacation season. He’d say, You go on vacation to feel calm, not stressed out all day sitting in traffic or going nuts trying to find a parking place I can’t take the idea of everyone going to the same place like sheep, as if there weren’t other magnificent places, calmer and cheaper, all up and down the East Coast. I vaguely remembered that on one of his business trips, at least two years ago, he had been in a country club in some part of Cape Cod. But the deal hadn’t panned out, as I could corroborate when I looked through all his contracts without finding any pertaining to the cape.

Could he have been lying to me? I suddenly asked myself if the motivation for that visceral rejection of Cape Cod might have been to keep me away from there, from whatever it was he was hiding. No, it couldn’t be. Chris couldn’t stand crowds. He didn’t like big cities. And besides, a place you can only get to by bridge makes me claustrophobic, he had said to me once. Yet there he was now, on my computer screen, turning onto the exit leading directly onto Cape Cod.



JUNE 1–3


I PROGRESSED—OR, better said, I rewound—at an average of a mile or two a day. Slowly. Without telling anyone. I took Olivia to school. Six hours. That was the time I had to find out what I could, tracing the route in red marker. Then I’d go back, pick up Olivia, play with her awhile, bathe her, make her dinner, put her to bed, read a story to her and Big Smelly Bear, and then go back over all the material I’d gathered. That routine kept my head busy and helped me play hide-and-seek with the despair that flooded everything and the crippling longing for Chris to come back. I felt guilty, like someone looking through her husband’s cell phone or email or pants pockets while he’s in the shower—things I had never done. But at the same time, it connected me to Chris, as though I was keeping him alive, because in a sense I was seeing him in those recordings, I was following him. Every night before going to bed, I opened Chris’s email, his Facebook, his LinkedIn and his other social media accounts. As if I were his secretary taking care of business in his absence. In case a new notification suddenly popped up, a clue. But nothing, it was almost all spam or work stuff.
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